IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 01-885

DENNIS SOCHOR,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RACHEL L. DAY Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0068535

KENNETH M. MALNIK Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0351415

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3rd Ave., #400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, Broward County, entered the judgments of conviction and sentence under consideration. Mr. Sochor was indicted on October 9, 1986 for the crimes of murder in the first degree in count I and kidnapping in count II of the indictment (R. 1143). Mr. Sochor's trial began on October 13, 1989, and the jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged as to both counts of the indictment on October 20, 1989 (R. 1189-1190).

At the penalty phase, the jury recommended death (R. 1225). The trial court subsequently sentenced Mr. Sochor to death on November 2, 1989 (R. 1237-1238). The trial court found the following aggravating circumstances: (1) prior violent felony; (2) the crime was committed during the course of a felony, kidnapping and the uncharged crime of sexual battery; (3) heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and (4) cold, calculated, and premeditated manner (R. 1231-1236). The trial court found no statutory or

non-statutory mitigating circumstances (R. 1231-1236).

On direct appeal, this Court struck the "cold, calculated, and premeditated" aggravating circumstance while affirming Mr. Sochor's convictions and death sentence. <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 580 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1991). The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari, vacated Mr. Sochor's death sentence, and remanded the case to this Court because it failed to conduct an adequate harmless error analysis. <u>Sochor v. Florida</u>, 504 U.S. 527 (1992).

On remand, this Court again affirmed Mr. Sochor's death sentence. <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 285 (Fla. 1993). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. Sochor v. Florida, 114 S. Ct. 638 (1993).

On July 25, 1995, Mr. Sochor filed a Rule 3.850 motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence, including the sentence of death imposed upon him by this Court. On February 21, 1996, Mr. Sochor filed an Amended Rule 3.850 motion. Following public records litigation, Mr. Sochor filed a Second Amended Rule 3.850

motion on January 23, 1998 (PCR. 796-853). The State filed its response on March 27, 1998. Mr. Sochor filed a reply to the State's response on April 16, 1998.

Following a <u>Huff</u> hearing on June 12, 1998, the lower court granted a limited evidentiary hearing on Mr. Sochor's claims. The evidentiary hearing took place on April 19, 20, 21, and 22, 1999. The lower court denied postconviction relief by order dated 28 March 2001 (PCR. 1137 <u>et seq</u>). This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

1. The lower court misconstrued the law and misunderstood the facts in erroneously denying Mr. Sochor's postconviction motion because trial counsel unreasonably failed to investigate and present evidence, <u>inter alia</u>, of Mr. Sochor's childhood trauma, poverty, abuse, neglect, brain damage, Posttraumatic Stress Disorder, Manic-Depressive Illness, Substance Abuse Disorder and other mental health issues which would have supported statutory and non-statutory mitigation. Mr.

Sochor's counsel was constitutionally deficient and ineffective.

2. The lower court erroneously denied Mr. Sochor a new trial as a result of trial counsel's constitutionally inadequate performance at Mr. Sochor's guilt phase, <u>Brady</u> violation, incompetence during the trial and <u>Ake</u> violations.

3. The lower court erroneously failed to disqualify itself after conducting <u>ex parte</u> hearings during Mr. Sochor's postconviction proceedings.

4. Mr. Sochor was erroneously denied a full and fair evidentiary hearing on several claims relating to the guilt phase of his capital trial. Mr. Sochor pleaded specific facts, including, <u>inter alia</u>, issues of ineffective assistance of trial counsel at the guilt phase and pretrial, Mr. Sochor's inability to make a knowing, intelligent and voluntary waiver of his rights, and the unconstitutionality of Broward County's method of appointing special public defenders, that were legally sufficient and were not refuted by the record.

5. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Sochor's claim that constitutional error occurred during the jury instructions and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object. These errors include the burdenshifting instruction, the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance, the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance, the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance and the automatic felony-murder aggravating circumstance.

6. Mr. Sochor is innocent of first degree murder and of the death penalty. The summary denial of this claims without a cumulative error analysis was error.

7. The prohibition against Mr. Sochor's counsel interviewing jurors is unconstitutional and fundamentally unfair.

8. Execution by lethal injection and electrocution constitutes cruel and unusual punishment.

9. The lower court's failure to conduct a proper cumulative error analysis and the court's failure to consider the effects of those errors on the jury

deprived Mr. Sochor of due process and a meaningful review of his appellate postconviction issues.

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT MR. SOCHOR A NEW PENALTY PHASE FOLLOWING THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING

The lower court misunderstood and misinterpreted the facts and law presented at Mr. Sochor's evidentiary hearing. Mr. Sochor established that he received ineffective assistance of counsel in that his trial counsel failed to adequately investigate and prepare mitigating evidence at penalty phase.

Contrary to the hearing court's findings, Mr. Sochor is entitled to a resentencing before a newly empaneled jury.

Counsel in a capital case has a duty to conduct a "requisite, diligent investigation" into his client's background for potential mitigation evidence. <u>Williams</u> <u>v. Taylor</u>, 120 S. Ct. 1495, 1524 (2000).¹ <u>See also Id</u>.

¹ The Supreme Court granted relief to Mr. Williams, the first time the Court has granted relief on the basis

at 1515 ("trial counsel did not fulfill their obligation to conduct a thorough investigation of the defendant's background"); State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2000) ("an attorney has a strict duty to conduct a reasonable investigation of a defendant's background for possible mitigating evidence"). "It seems apparent that there would be few cases, if any, where defense counsel would be justified in failing to investigate and present a case for the defendant in the penalty phase of a capital trial." Id. It is very clear from both the record of Mr. Sochor's penalty phase and of the evidence presented at his evidentiary hearing that Mr. Sochor's trial counsel's performance did not comport with these essential principles.

The record of Mr. Sochor's penalty phase reflects that only four lay witnesses were presented to the

of ineffective assistance of counsel as to the penalty phase of a capital case. As demonstrated at the hearing and in this memorandum, Mr. Sochor's case is even stronger than Mr. Williams' and his entitlement to relief is clearly established under the <u>Williams</u> decision.

jury,² and no statutory or nonstatutory mental health mitigation was presented at that stage. Furthermore, those witnesses were not contacted prior to the commencement of the penalty phase, and were not prepared by trial counsel prior to their testimony. By contrast, at the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Sochor presented additional testimony from these family members, as well as from other siblings (Blaine Sochor, Gary Sochor, Melanie Wheeler and Lisa Fisher), friends (Helen Foley, Rachel Moore, Marvin Droste and Bill Mitchell), teachers (Father Melvin Fox, Louis LaScala and Christine Thatcher) and two mental health professionals (Richard Greer M.D. and Karen Froming Ph.D.) This evidence showed that counsel did not conduct the requisite "thorough investigation" of Mr. Sochor's background. There was an evidentiary void at the sentencing phase of Mr. Sochor's case. Because of trial counsel's

² Charles Sochor and Rose Sochor, Mr. Sochor's parents, Gary Sochor, a brother, and Kathy Cooper, his older sister.

unprofessional errors in developing a mental health and family history mitigation case, including his failure to investigate and to provide adequate background materials to the expert he retained, his failure to call any mental health expert and his failure to present anything other than the most superficial family history evidence to the jury, the jury and the sentencing judge failed to learn of significant mitigating evidence.

The lower court found that trial counsel " . . . was in preparation long before the penalty phase even began" based solely on the fact that "[h]e was the Defendant's attorney during the entire development of the trial" (PCR. 1152). This analysis flies in the face of the record and applicable case law. First of all, the fact that Mr. Rich was Mr. Sochor's counsel "during the entire development of the trial" does not logically support the court's contention that Rich did adequate investigation. If the court's logic is taken to its ultimate conclusion, and the length of time since counsel's appointment was the sole factor in determining

whether adequate investigation was done, no reversal based on ineffective assistance would ever occur. The court's reasoning is simply absurd. The unrebutted testimony at the evidentiary hearing shows that trial counsel failed to conduct the "requisite, diligent" investigation into Mr. Sochor's background to unearth available and plentiful mitigation. <u>Williams</u>, 120 S. Ct. at 1524.

At the evidentiary hearing, it became clear that Mr. Rich had not even considered the possibility of developing any mental health or other mitigation before the guilty verdict was returned. Numerous family and other witnesses would have testified on Mr. Sochor's behalf, had they only been asked. For example, Christine Thatcher (T. 269), Father Melvin Fox (T. 296-7) and Helen Foley (T. 306) all testified that they would have been able and willing to testify in Florida at Mr. Sochor's penalty phase, as would Blaine Sochor, Melanie Wheeler, Lisa Fisher, Louis LaScala, Marvin Droste and Bill Mitchell. Each witness had valuable,

non-cumulative testimony to offer in support of mitigation.

Even the witnesses presented by Mr. Rich were not prepared for their testimony. As Charles Sochor testified, he was not contacted by Mr. Rich about testifying until the guilt phase was over:

> Q: [by Mr. Malnik] When was it that you knew that you were coming to Florida to testify at the penalty phase?

A: [by Charles Sochor] I don't understand the question.

Q: Before the trial started, did you know that at some point --

A: Yes.

Q: -- that you would be coming --

A: Yes.

Q: To Florida, you and your wife?

A: Yes. Before the penalty phase of the trial yes.

Q: What about before the trial started?

A: No.

(T. 135).

Furthermore, even once the family witnesses arrived in Florida, Mr. Rich's preparation of them for their penalty phase testimony was constitutionally inadequate. He made no attempt to develop mitigation, but merely asked them to prepare a statement to read to the jury. At the evidentiary hearing, Rosemary Sochor testified that Mr. Rich only called her and her husband when they reached the hotel in Fort Lauderdale:

> A: [by Rosemary Sochor] I think he called us, if I remember. I think he called us and asked us to write out everything that we would want to say in court. And I think he said he'd be up that evening or the next day or something like that and talk to us. And that's when I talked to him.

Q: [by Mr. Malnik] When you talked to him how long did you talk to him for?

A: Not very long.

Q: Less than 20 minutes?

A: Maybe half an hour.

(T. 198).

In fact, by his own admission on the record of the penalty phase, trial counsel failed to even speak to one of these witnesses (R. 1032). In addition, of the few family members who testified at the penalty phase, one, Kathy Cooper, Mr. Sochor's sister, only testified at her own insistence. Had it been left up to Mr. Rich, even Kathy Cooper would not have been brought down to Florida from Michigan for the penalty phase, as Mrs. Cooper testified at the evidentiary hearing:

> Q: [by Mr. Malnik] Do you recall the circumstances in how you came down here to testify?

A: [by Ms. Cooper] Uh-huh, very clearly. I received a call from my mother on the night saying that Dennie had been found guilty and the next day would be the sentencing. And I had told my mom before she left that if there was anything I could do while they were down there or if they just needed me or something, to just call. And so I got this call. It was like early evening, I think.

And so I just you know, automatically told her I would be there. And it was like my husband was at work, because he worked midnights. And I think my daughter was like a freshman in high school then. So I told her what was going on -- no. Actually I think it was later in the evening because I woke her up.

So I had to get plane reservations to come down here, and I'd never flown before, and I didn't know what to do. So I called my brother Blaine and I got him up and I told him what was going on. So he called an airline and made a reservation for me. And then the next morning he had me at the airport at six o'clock in the morning.

(T. 210-211).

Mrs. Cooper only testified at her own insistence,

and like her parents, she was not prepared for testimony

by Mr. Rich:

Q: [by Mr. Malnik] Did you ever speak to an attorney before you flew down here, did you ever speak to Dennie's attorney?

A: [by Ms. Cooper] I talked to him, I think, it was like downstairs before we came up to the courtroom.

Q: Just so we understand, you never talked to him on the telephone before you came down to Florida?

A: No.

Q: You talked to him downstairs

before you went up an elevator to the courtroom?

A: Yes.

Q: How long did you talk to him for?

A: Maybe two minutes.

Q: And do you recall what you talked to him about?

A: Oh, yeah, because it really ticked me off.

Q: What was said?

A: I believe he said "Why are you here?" And I was kind of like, I would think he would know why I was there. I said "Because I got a call from mom that Dennie needed help." I said I'm here to do whatever I can do."

And mom had said that the lawyer had said to think about things I wanted to say on the plane on the way down here and write them down. And so I had done that. And then he said something like "Well, what do you think you can do?" And I said, "Well, I don't know, but I've written this up, some things about Dennie when he was younger and stuff. And this is what mom told me to do."

And he said "Well, let me see it." So I handed to him and he kind of looked at it. And I mean, like glanced at it. He didn't read it, because it was about three pages long. And he said "Okay" and he handed it back to me.

Q: And did you go into that courtroom and testify?

A: Yes I did.

(T. 211-212) (emphasis added).

The court acknowledged that Mr. Rich was not able to testify as to his strategy at the evidentiary hearing, being deceased by the time of Mr. Sochor's evidentiary hearing (PCR. 1151). However, despite the unrebutted testimony of Ms. Cooper, Rosemary and Charles Sochor as to his lack of preparation, the lower court maintained the analysis that this was "reasonable strategy" (PCR. 1150). This conclusion is borne out neither by the record nor applicable case law.

Mr. Rich's performance at the penalty phase was constitutionally deficient. The law requires that an attorney charged with the responsibility of conducting a capital trial begin investigating for the penalty phase

before the guilt phase of the trial and not wait until the guilt phase is over. <u>Blanco v. Singletary</u>, 943 F. 2d at 1501-02. "To save the difficult and timeconsuming task of assembling mitigation witnesses until after the jury's verdict in the guilt phase almost insures that witnesses will not be available." <u>Id</u>.

In this case, especially, the logistical aspects of the case rendered it crucial that the penalty phase investigation be commenced as early as possible and not just at the commencement of the penalty phase. Furthermore, this Court has previously found that any purported strategic or tactical reason evinced by Mr. Rich for failing to commence investigation until after the guilt phase amounts to deficient performance. See <u>Deaton v. Dugger</u>, 635 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1993). In Deaton this Court found that Mr. Rich's performance was deficient because his "shortcomings were sufficiently serious to have deprived Deaton of a reliable penalty phase proceeding." Id. At a 1989 evidentiary hearing in <u>Deaton</u>, the following colloquy took place between

post-conviction counsel ("Q") and Mr. Rich ("A"), Mr. Sochor's trial counsel:

Q: In terms of preparing for trial in advance of conviction, what did you do to prepare for the penalty phase?

A: Very little. I usually don't try to prepare the penalty phase in advance of the verdict, so for some reason I just don't like to get psyched up and get a defeated attitude. I usually don't prepare until I lose [the conviction phase], then I started scrambling for something to do about the penalty phase . . .

Q: In terms of the penalty phase, did you explain to [Deaton] mitigating circumstances that you could pursue?

A: No, except he could testify as to his treatment and how he was emotionally abused as a child. Just very briefly, if he wanted to testify . . .

Q: Now in terms of documentation, records such as the hospital reports or divorce records or any of those H.R.S. files, did you talk to Jason about finding those records in order to try to introduce them at the penalty phase?

A: No.

Q: Were you aware that documents

such as that may be admissible even if it's hearsay at the penalty phase?

A: Yes.

Q: Was there any reason why you didn't try and locate any of those documents prior to trial?

A: No, no reason . . .

Q: Now do you recall how much time you had spent between the return of the guilty verdict and the start of the penalty phase?

A: Very little time.

Q: Was it like overnight?

A: I think overnight or the next day, couple of days. It was very little time.

Q: Do you recall what you tried to do in terms of developing the record or witnesses to testify?

A: Nothing at that point. There wasn't time to do it, except to wonder where his mother was. She indicated she would be back to ask Jason if he would like her to testify on his own behalf on the penalty phase.

<u>Deaton v. Dugger</u>, 635 So. 2d 4, 9 (Fla. 1993).

It is true that, at Mr. Sochor's evidentiary

hearing, Mr. Sochor was unable to elicit similar testimony from Mr. Rich due to the fact that, in the interim between the Deaton hearing and the Sochor hearing, Mr. Rich had died. However, in <u>Deaton</u>, this Court found that Mr. Sochor's trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present available mitigation evidence during a capital penalty phase. This Court ultimately concluded in Deaton that Mr. Rich was ineffective because his "shortcomings were sufficiently serious to have deprived Deaton of a reliable penalty phase proceeding." <u>Id</u>. Notwithstanding the lack of any testimony as to his strategy, or lack thereof, in Mr. Sochor's case, it is clear from the unrebutted testimony of Kathy Cooper, Rosemary Sochor and Charles Sochor that Mr. Rich employed the same modus operandi in the Sochor case as he had done in Deaton. Moreover, Mr. Rich's testimony in <u>Deaton</u> occurred in 1989, two years after Mr. Sochor's penalty phase. It is clear that in 1989, it was still Mr. Rich's modus operandi to leave the penalty phase investigation and preparation until the

last minute. ("I usually don't try to prepare the penalty phase in advance of the verdict.") <u>Deaton</u> at 9.

Numerous mitigating circumstances were presented at the evidentiary hearing which were either not presented at all at the penalty phase or which, if alluded to, were glossed over so superficially as to render the testimony misleading. A case in point is the mitigating circumstance of physical abuse. At the penalty phase, Mr. Rich elicited some testimony that Mr. Sochor had been abused as a child. However, the horrific nature and extent of the physical abuse endured by Mr. Sochor in his home were glossed over in the most superficial way. Moreover, he never even came close to giving the jury a true picture of the nature and extent of the abuse that permeated the daily life within the Sochor family. He failed to portray the true image of Dennis as the target child in the family. He failed to describe the random beatings that would descend on all the children, and the true extent to which Dennis protected the others by taking their beatings for them.

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