IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DENNIS SOCHOR,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 01-0885

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J.CRIST JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLA. BAR NO.: 0656879
1515 FLAGLER DRIVE.
SUITE 900
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33401
(561) 837-5000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

Walsh v. State, 418 So. 2d 1000, 1002 (Fla. 1982); Pendelton v. State, 348 So. 2d 1206 (4th DCA 1977). Consequently counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to use the polygraph results.

Next appellant contends that the trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to adequately litigate the motion to suppress hearing. The trial court found this claim to be procedurally barred and legally insufficient as pled. (SPCR 110-111). The trial court's ruling was correct.

First, appellant challenged the admissibility of his confession on appeal, alleging that his statements were improperly admitted because the state could not independently prove the corpus delicti without it. This Court rejected that claim. Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285, 289 (Fla. 1993).

Appellant's attempt to relitigate the admissibility of his confession under the quise of ineffective assistance of counsel Bryan v. State, 641 So. 2d 61, 63 (Fla. is precluded. 1994)(finding that issues addressed on direct appeal are procedurally barred on collateral review); Quince v. State, 477 So. 2d 535, 536 (Fla. 1985)(same); <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 717 So.2d 477, 480 n.2 (Fla. 1998) (finding claim to be procedurally barred as it is merely using a different argument to raise prior claim); Marajah v. State, 684 So. 2d 726, 728 (Fla. 1996)(finding it inappropriate to use collateral attack to relitigate previous issue). <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, 656 So.2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995)(same). Second, the motion before the trial court as well as the issue presented on appeal is legally insufficient as pled. Sochor does not present any factual support for his conclusory allegations. Again summary denial was warranted. Sochor contends, "[c]ounsel failed to conduct an adequate investigation regarding the circumstances of these statements and failed to adequately litigate the suppressions issues. The State withheld material, exculpatory evidence regarding the statements, further rendering counsel was ineffective." Initial brief at 83. Engle v. State, 576 So. 2d 698, 700 (Fla. 1992) (ruling that motion is legally insufficient absent factual support for allegations); Cf. Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990)(refusing to entertain appellate

issues that only contain reference to other pleadings without further explanation).

In his next argument, Sochor list ten specific instances of alleged deficient performance by trial counsel. **Initial brief** at 83-84. The trial court summarily denied the claim noting that all the claims were raised on direct appeal and found to be procedurally barred by this Court. (SPCR 110-111). The court's summary disposition was proper.

As noted above, these exact issues were raised on direct appeal and were found to be procedurally barred for failure to preserve them at trial. Sochor, 619 So. 2d at 290 n. 7&8. This Court stated that Sochor could not overcome that procedural bar because none of the alleged errors taken individually or collectively amounted to fundamental error. Id. In the postconviction proceedings Sochor attempted to circumvent that procedural bar and relitigate this issue by casting it as one of ineffective assistance of counsel. However, Sochor cannot prevail under this claim.

In order to be entitled to relief, Sochor must establish the requisite prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>. Prejudice is demonstrated if the deficient performance was sufficient to render the result unreliable. <u>Mendyk v. State</u>, 592 So. 2d 1076 (Fla. 1992). Prejudice requires a showing that a reasonable possibility exists that the result of the proceedings would have been

different absent the deficient performance. Routly v. State, 590 So. 2d 397, 401 (Fla. 1991). Given that this Court already determined that this issue was not compelling enough to overcome the procedural bar, Sochor will not be able to demonstrate prejudice in these proceedings. See White v. State, 559 So. 2d 1097, 1099-1100 (Fla. 1990)(rejecting ineffective assistance of counsel claim regarding counsel's failure to preserve issues for appeal in postconviction appeal based on earlier finding by court on direct appeal that unperserved alleged errors would not constitute fundamental error); Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1019 (Fla. 1998)(finding that defendant had failed to meet prejudice prong of Strickland on issue that counsel failed to adequately argue case below given that it was rejected without discussion); Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1071, 1072 (Fla. 1995)(same). Summary denial was proper.

Furthermore, simply adding a conclusory sentence that counsel was ineffective does not state a proper claim for relief. Sochor's argument is legally insufficient as pled.

See Freeman v. State, 761 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 2000).

In the next claim, Sochor alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for not presenting evidence of his mental infirmities __in support of his motion to suppress. In his motion he conceded that the issue could not be specifically pled absent additional materials under Chapter 119. (PCR 157). The

trial court denied the claim finding that the issue was legally insufficient as pled. (SPCR 111). Now on appeal, Sochor attempts to augment the issue by relying on evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing which was relevant to his claim of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel. The state asserts that he cannot do so. Summary denial was proper. 18

Finally Sochor contends that the procedure by which the trial court appoints special public defenders and expert witnesses and the manner in which the accounts are funded creates a conflict of interest for the judges. The trial court summarily denied this claim finding that it was legally insufficient as pled. The trial court's ruling was a correct statement of the law. See Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 576, 577 n. 2 (Fla. 1996)(finding legally insufficient postconviction defendant's conflict of interest challenge to the way judges appoint experts and public defenders)._

¹⁸ Additionally the state would point out that the mental health expert opinions upon which he now relies, were only relevant to establish Sochor's mental state at the time of the crime, and did not include any reference to Sochor's mental state four and half years later when he confessed.

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO JURY INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING THE AGGRAVATING FACTORS

Sochor alleges that the jury was given unconstitutionally vague instructions regarding the aggravating factors of "heinous, atrocious, and cruel" "p, "prior violent felony" 20, the "crime was committed during the course of a felony". 21 and "the crime was cold, calculated and premeditated". 22 Sochor further complains that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to these allegedly constitutionally deficient instructions. The trial court summarily denied this claim finding that the issue was procedurally barred, legally insufficient as pled and refuted from the record. (PCR 109-110). The state asserts that the trial court's ruling was proper.

On direct appeal Sochor attempted to attack the constitutionality of the jury instruction applicable to the "HAC" factor. The Court found that claim to be procedurally barred since it was not properly preserved for review. Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285, 291 n. 10 (Fla. 1993). However the

¹⁹ 921.141 (5)(h), Fla. Stat.

²⁰ 921.141 (5)(b), Fla. Stat.

²¹ 921.141 (5)(d), Fla. Stat.

²² 921.141 (5)(i), Fla. Stat.

Court did address Sochor's claim that there was insufficient evidence to sustain the finding of this factor. In rejecting the claim, this Court stated:

The evidence also supports finding that especially murder was heinous. the atrocious, or cruel. Fear and emotional strain can contribute to the heinousness of the murder. Adams, 412 So.2d at 857. Gary testified that the victim screamed for help after she was dragged from the truck and scratches on Sochor's face indicated that a struggle took place. The evidence supports the conclusion of horror and contemplation of serious injury or death by the victim. Moreover, Sochor confessed that he choked the victim to death. It can be inferred that "strangulation, conscious perpetrated upon victim, а involves foreknowledge of death, extreme anxiety and fear, and that this method of killing is one to which the factor of heinousness is applicable." The trial court properly found this aggravating factor.

Sochor, 619 So. 2d at 292.(citations omitted). Therefore this attempt to again seek review of a procedurally barred claim is precluded. See Rivera v. State, 717 So.2d 477, 480 n.2 (Fla. 1998)(finding claim to be procedurally barred as it is merely using a different argument to raise prior claim); Marajah v. State, 684 So. 2d 726, 728 (Fla. 1996)(finding it inappropriate to use collateral attack to relitigate previous issue). Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995)(same); Koon v. State, 619 So. 2d 246, 248 (Fla. 1993)(finding that failure to challenge the language of the instruction as improper or vague precludes collateral review); Chandler v. Dugger, 634 So. 2d

1066, 1069 (Fla. 1994)(same). Summary denial was proper.

Also on direct appeal, Sochor challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain a finding of the aggravating factor that "the crime was committed during the course of a felony." This Court rejected the claim finding:

Sochor does contest the finding that the murder was committed during a felony. We have already found sufficient evidence of both kidnapping and attempted sexual battery. Thus, the evidence supports this aggravating factor.

<u>Sochor</u>. 619 So. 2d at 292. Sochor's attempt to revisit this issue is precluded. <u>Koon</u>; <u>Chandler</u>; <u>Harvey</u>.

In this appeal Sochor present a challenge to the applicable jury instruction for the aggravating factor of "prior violent felony." However Sochor did not present any challenge on direct appeal to this aggravator. However, this Court did review the evidentiary support for this factor and held, "He does not contest the finding of a previous conviction for a violent felony, and we find this aggravator supported by the record. Sochor, 619 So. 2d at 292. Failure to raise it on appeal precludes review now. Atkins v. State, 541 So. 2d 1165, 1166 (Fla. 1989).

And finally on appeal, Sochor did <u>successfully</u> attack the trial court's finding that the murder was "cold, calculated, and premeditated." <u>Sochor</u>, 619 So. 2d at 292. However, Sochor was denied relief because any error in considering this factor was

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Id</u> at n. 11. Consequently, reltigation of this claim is procedurally barred. <u>Freeman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 761 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 2000).

In an attempt to overcome the procedural bar attached to these four issues, Sochor's claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve them at trial. However, relief is still not warranted. Even if counsel had successfully preserved the issue for review Sochor could not establish prejudice given that this Court determined that there was sufficient evidence to sustain three of the factors, as outlined above. <u>Id</u>. at 292. <u>See Chandler</u> 634 So. 2d at 1069 (finding that overwhelming evidence to establish aggravating factor rendered harmless any deficiency in the instruction).

Sochor next contends that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the unconstitutionally vague penalty phase jury instructions which improperly "shifted the burden of proof" to the defendant to show that death is not the appropriate sentence. This claim is procedurally barred as it could have been raised on direct appeal. Atkins, 541 So. 2d at 1066; Harvey, 565 So. 2d at 1256. In any event even had counsel objected to the instruction, relief would have been denied. See Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 647 (Fla. 1995)(finding that the standard jury instructions regarding the weighing process between the aggravators and the mitigators did not impermissibly

place the burden on the defendant to establish that life was the appropriate penalty); Demps v. Dugger, 714 So. 2d 365, 368 & n.8 (Fla. 1998)(observing that "burden shifting" claim has been repeatedly rejected); Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 517 (Fla. 1999)(finding that trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to object to standard jury instructions which have been previously approved by the Florida Supreme Court); Thompson v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S346, 350 (April 13, 2000)(same); Harvey v. State, 656 So. 2d , 1253, 1258 (Fla. 1995)(same). Consequently counsel was not ineffective. Correll v State, 558 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1990)(finding that appellate counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise issue without merit).

Next Sochor claims that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the court's jury instruction regarding the jury's role in sentencing. Sochor alleges that the instruction given impermissibly denigrates the jury's role in violation of Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). The substance of this issue was raised on direct appeal. This Court found it to be procedurally barred since it was not raised at trial. Sochor, 619 So. 2d at 291-292. Relitigation is prohibited. Harvey; Freeman. In any event, the claim had no merit. See Burns v. State, 699 So. 2d 646, 654 (Fla. 1997)(rejecting claim that Espinosa renders incorrect the standard jury instruction regarding the jury's role in the penalty phase); Turner v.

State, 614 So. 2d 1075, 1079 (Fla. 1992)(same) Cf. Sims v. Singletary, 622 So. 2d 980, 981 (Fla. 1993)(rejecting claim that Espinosa warrants a determination on an otherwise procedurally barred claim).

Sochor's final challenge is to the aggravating factor that the "crime was committed during the course of a felony". 23 Sochor claims that the aggravator does not sufficiently narrow the class of individuals who would qualify for a sentence of death. Again this issue is procedurally barred as it could have been raised on direct appeal. Atkins.

To the extent this claim is properly before this Court under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel, it has not merit. This Court has repeatedly rejected this very issue. Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1997); Freeman. Counsel therefore could not be ineffective for failing to pursue an nonmeritorious issue. Cf. Correll v State, 558 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1990)(finding that appellate counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise issue without merit).

²³ 921.141 (5), Fla. Stat.

ISSUE VI

APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT HE IS INNOCENT OF THE DEATH PENALTY AND OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT

Finally in an attempt to overcome all of the irrevocable procedural bars attached to claims in Issue V, Sochor argues he is "innocent" of his death sentence. He relies on the "actual innocence" exception announced in <u>Sawyer v. Whitley</u>, 112 S.Ct. 2514 (1992) which allows for review of otherwise procedurally barred claims, only <u>if</u> a defendant can establish that <u>all</u> of the aggravating factors used to impose the death sentence are invalid. The trial court found the claim procedurally barred because a challenge to the aggravating factors was raised and rejected on direct appeal. (PCR 109-110). The court's ruling was correct.

As noted elsewhere in this brief, Sochor challenged the propriety of three of the aggravating factors on appeal. Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285, 292 (Fla. 1993). This attempt to reargue those claims is prohibited. See Rivera v. State, 717 So.2d 477, 480 n.2 (Fla. 1998)(finding claim to be procedurally barred as it is merely using a different argument to raise prior claim); Marajah v. State, 684 So. 2d 726, 728 (Fla. 1996)(finding it inappropriate to use collateral attack to relitigate previous issue). Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So.2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995)(same).

In any event, Sochor's claim is meritless as this Court found that three of the four aggravator had been established beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Sochor</u>, 619 So. 2d at 293. Therefore, this claim is void of any merit.

ISSUE VII

APPELLANT'S CHALLENGE TO THE RULE WHICH PRECLUDES JUROR INTERVIEWS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

Citing to Florida Rule of Professional Conduct 4-3.5(d)(4), Sochor alleges that this rule against interviewing jurors impinges on his right to free association; denied him access to the courts, and is a violation of the equal protection clause. The trial court summarily denied the claim finding it to be procedurally barred and legally insufficient as pled.²⁴ (PCR 115). The trial court's was correct. See Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 209, 520 n.6 (Fla. 1999)(finding procedurally barred a challenge to the rule which prohibits juror interviews to determine whether misconduct has occurred); Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, n.12 (Fla. 2000); Arbeleaz v. State, 775 So. 2d

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